
AGENDA

SELECT COMMITTEE - PUPIL PREMIUM

Monday, 15th January, 2018, at 2.00 pm Ask for: Gaetano Romagnuolo

Wantsum Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416624

Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the start of the meeting in the meeting room

Membership 

Mrs L Game, Mrs C Bell, Mr A Booth, Mrs P T Cole, Mrs T Dean, MBE, Ms S Hamilton, 
Mr J P McInroy, Dr L Sullivan and Mr M Whiting

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

2.00-
2.45pm

John Cavadino, Principal, Oasis Academy Isle of Sheppey (Pages 
3 - 6)
 

3.00-
4.15pm

Paul Luxmoore, CEO, Coastal Academies Trust (Pages 7 - 10)
 

Appendix (Pages 11 - 34)
 

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Benjamin Watts
General Counsel 
03000 416814 

Friday, 5 January 2018



This page is intentionally left blank



Pupil Premium Select Committee

Biography

John Cavadino, Principal, Oasis Academy, Isle of Sheppey

John Cavadino is responsible for leadership and management, strategic planning 
and development of the whole Academy.

Oasis Academy Isle of Sheppey became part of the Oasis Group in January 2014.  It 
is a fully inclusive academy for young people aged between 11 and 19, committed to 
delivering first-class education and playing an active role in the local community.  
The Academy is situated across two campuses: East at Minster Road in Minster; and 
West on Marine Parade, Sheerness. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Pupil Premium Select Committee

Hearing 8

Monday 15th January 2018

Witness Guide for Members

Below are suggested themes and questions.  They have been provided in 
advance to the witnesses to allow them to prepare for the types of issues that 
Members may be interested to explore.  All Members are welcome to ask 
these questions or pose additional ones to the witnesses via the Committee 
Chairman.

Themes and Questions

John Cavadino, Principal, Oasis Academy, Isle of Sheppey

 Please introduce yourself and offer an outline of the roles and 
responsibilities that your post involves.

 What is the main focus of Pupil Premium funding allocation in the 
Academy? How do you track what Pupil Premium funding is spent on? 
How do you monitor the impact of Pupil Premium funding in your school?

 In what ways – if any - do you encourage parents and carers to apply for 
Free School Meals if they are eligible? 

 To what extent has Pupil Premium funding been effective in narrowing the 
attainment gap between vulnerable children and their peers in the 
Academy?

 In your view, to what extent do external factors in areas of high deprivation 
have an impact on the academic progress of vulnerable pupils?

 What are the most successful interventions and strategies where the Pupil 
Premium has been used effectively to narrow the attainment gap between 
vulnerable learners and their peers in your school?

 What can KCC do, if anything, to improve the effectiveness of the Pupil 
Premium in closing the attainment gap between vulnerable children and 
their peers?

 Are there any other issues, in relation to the review, that you wish to raise 
with the Committee?

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Pupil Premium Select Committee

Biography

Paul Luxmoore, CEO, Coastal Academies Trust

Paul Luxmoore is the Executive Headteacher of Coastal Academies Trust. His role is 
to carry out the decisions of the Trust Board, working with the Headteachers and 
Local Governing Bodies to implement the Trust’s plans. He supports the 
Headteachers in a variety of ways and, in particular, provides an outward looking 
role, liaising with the Department of Education, Education Funding Agency and the 
Local Authority. He is a National Leader of Education, a member of Kent Association 
of Headteachers Executive Board and East Kent Board, as well as a member of the 
International Baccalaureate Schools and Colleges Association Steering Committee.

Coastal Academies Trust consists of 4 schools officially: Cliftonville Primary school 
(outstanding), Dane Court Grammar School (outstanding), King Ethelbert School 
(good) and Hartsdown Academy (good). Royal Harbour Academy is an associate 
member of the Trust, pending conversion to academy status and is regarded by the 
DfE as already being a full member. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Pupil Premium Select Committee

Hearing 8

Monday 15th January 2018

Witness Guide for Members

Below are suggested themes and questions.  They have been provided in 
advance to the witnesses to allow them to prepare for the types of issues that 
Members may be interested to explore.  All Members are welcome to ask 
these questions or pose additional ones to the witnesses via the Committee 
Chairman.

Themes and Questions

Paul Luxmoore, CEO, Coastal Academies Trust

 Please introduce yourself and offer an outline of the roles and 
responsibilities that your post involves.

 What is the main focus of Pupil Premium funding allocation in your 
schools? How do you track what Pupil Premium funding is spent on? How 
do you monitor the impact of Pupil Premium funding in your schools?

 In what ways – if any - do you encourage parents and carers to apply for 
Free School Meals if they are eligible? 

 To what extent has Pupil Premium funding been effective in narrowing the 
attainment gap between vulnerable children and their peers in the Trust?

 In your view, to what extent do external factors in areas of high deprivation 
have an impact on the academic progress of vulnerable pupils?

 In your opinion, what other strategies and interventions – if any – can be 
implemented to maximise the impact of the Pupil Premium?

 What can KCC do, if anything, to improve the effectiveness of the Pupil 
Premium in closing the attainment gap between vulnerable children and 
their peers?

 Are there any other issues, in relation to the review, that you wish to raise 
with the Committee?

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Funding for  
disadvantaged pupils
Survey evidence from pupils, 
parents and school leaders

Interactive 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 3



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

2/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Contents

Introduction 3

1 Pupils’ views 6

2 Parents’ views 10

3 School leaders’ views 13

Appendix One Further reading 23

P
age 12



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

Introduction

3/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Introduction

Funding for disadvantaged pupils
In June 2015, we published a value-for-money report about the 
Department for Education’s (the Department’s) implementation 
of the Pupil Premium policy since 2011. The report can be 
accessed in full through the National Audit Office’s website, 
at the following address: 

www.nao.org.uk/report/funding-for-disadvantaged-pupils/

P
age 13

http://www.nao.org.uk/report/funding-for-disadvantaged-pupils/


© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

Introduction

4/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Our principal conclusion about value for money 
was as follows:

It will take time for the full impact of the Pupil Premium to be known. 
While the attainment gap has narrowed since 2011, it remains wide 
and, at this stage, the significance of the improvements is unclear. 
More time and further evaluation will be needed to establish 
whether the Department has achieved its goals. However, the 
early signs are that many schools, supported by the Department’s 
investment in the EEF (the Education Endowment Foundation), are 
using the Pupil Premium to help disadvantaged pupils in useful 
ways. If these schools’ early performance can be sustained and 
built upon, the Pupil Premium has the potential to bring about a 
significant improvement in outcomes for disadvantaged pupils and 
the value for money of school spending.

The Department has already created a strong drive to improve 
support for disadvantaged pupils by targeting the Pupil 
Premium at schools on a rational basis; clearly communicating 
the funding’s objective; investing in research and sharing best 
practice; and empowering teachers to try new things. However, 
the Department, working with others, has more to do to optimise 
value for money. Not all disadvantaged pupils currently attract 
funding. Some schools do not focus funding on disadvantaged 
pupils appropriately or use the most cost-effective interventions, 
and, in any event, the evidence base is still underdeveloped. 
Furthermore, the core school funding that the Pupil Premium 
supplements is not distributed on the basis of need. Most 
importantly, there is a risk that accountability and intervention 
mechanisms allow schools to waste money on ineffective activities 
for many years without effective challenge. As the impact of the 
Pupil Premium becomes clearer, the Department will need to 
review if it is investing the right amount in it, including whether 
spending more in this way could allow it to close the gap more 
quickly, generating wider savings for the taxpayer.

P
age 14



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

Introduction

5/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

In our report we made a number of recommendations:

a The Department should develop its understanding of 
how schools are using the Pupil Premium and take 
further steps to reduce schools’ use of ineffective, costly 
activities to support disadvantaged pupils, including by:

OO improving the dissemination and usage of best practice;

OO ensuring that all Pupil Premium reviews are conducted by 
approved reviewers and considering whether to make reviews 
mandatory; and

OO examining, with the EEF, whether and how to expand the 
evidence base more quickly.

b As it sets core funding for schools in future, the 
Department should use a fairer formula so that pupils 
across England receive similar funding, related more 
closely to their needs and less affected by where they live. 
It should work with local authorities to understand the impact of 
core funding allocated to schools on the basis of disadvantage 
and consider how schools could be held accountable for its 
use. It should also clarify instructions to schools about the total 
value of funding that ought to be available to disadvantaged 
pupils with special educational needs, and explore how it can 
identify disadvantaged pupils more effectively.

c The Department should be more specific about how it will 
measure the Pupil Premium’s impact, including by:

OO setting out as soon as possible the attainment metrics it 
will use and ensuring these continue to be measured in a 
comparable way until at least 2023; and

OO researching how other potential Pupil Premium impacts, such 
as the destinations of disadvantaged pupils and savings in 
terms of other public services, can be measured.

This briefing
In the course of our fieldwork, we gathered evidence from many 
sources, including surveys of pupils, parents and school leaders. 
Some of this evidence is presented in our original report but there 
was insufficient room to accommodate other interesting material. 
This briefing puts that material into the public domain but does 
not alter out original findings and conclusion. We hope that other 
researchers and practitioners working on this important issue will 
find the material useful.

P
age 15



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

Pupils’ views

6/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

1 Pupils’ views

We commissioned YouGov to survey a sample of children aged 
8 to 15 in Great Britain (including Scotland and Wales) between 
20 March and 25 March 2015. YouGov received responses from 
1,338 children and weighted these to make them representative of 
all children in the age group. This means that 49% of respondents 
were aged 8 to 11 (in broad terms, primary-school age) and 51% 
were aged 12 to 15 (in broad terms, secondary-school age).1 
Of the respondents, 1,316 were attending school and therefore 
answered our substantive questions; the others reported that they 
were being home-schooled.2 

The Pupil Premium is typically spent on techniques and activities 
intended to transform disadvantaged pupils’ ability to learn and 
do well in examinations. To understand more about children’s 
learning preferences and styles, we asked about:

OO the types of activities that they felt most helped them to learn 
during lessons (Figure 1 on page 7);

OO the types of activities that they felt most helped them to learn 
outside lessons (Figure 2 on page 8); and

OO how good or bad particular types of lessons and activities 
made them feel (Figure 3 on page 9).

1 The unweighted number of responses was also 1,338, of which 47% came from children aged 8 to 11 and 53% from children aged 12 to 15.
2 We excluded home-schooled children from the rest of the survey because of the different experiences they have, the very small number of respondents, and the 

fact that, in England, they are ineligible for Pupil Premium funding.

P
age 16



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

Pupils’ views

7/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Figure 1
Activities and techniques that children said helped them learn during lessons

Half of children reported that working in a small group with the class teacher was helpful. 

Note

1 Based on responses from 1,316 children in Great Britain between 20 March and 25 March 2015.

Source: YouGov survey for the National Audit Office

Having extra one-to-one (on your own) 
help from the class teacher

Having lessons with children who are just as clever as me

Working in a small group with the class teacher

Working in a small group with an adult who isn’t the 
teacher (eg a teaching assistant, or classroom helper)

Don’t know

Having extra one-to-one (on your own) help from an adult who 
isn’t the teacher (eg a teaching assistant, or classroom helper)

Having lessons with children who are cleverer than me

Having lessons with children who are not as clever as me

None of these

0 2010 40 5030 60

Percentage

50

46

27

19

15

14

5

4

5

of children reported 
that working in a 
small group with 
the class teacher 
was helpful

50%

P
age 17



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

Pupils’ views

8/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Figure 2
Activities and techniques that children said helped them learn outside lessons

Half of children reported that doing homework was helpful, and 40% said the same about school trips. 

Note

1 Based on responses from 1,316 children in Great Britain between 20 March and 25 March 2015.

Source: YouGov survey for the National Audit Office

Doing after-school clubs (eg football, choir etc.)

Going on school trips

Doing homework

Having extra help from children older than me

Doing extra work at lunch times

Have extra help from children that are my age

None of these

Don’t know

0 2010 40 5030 60

Percentage

51

40

31

12

12

10

11

6

of children 
reported that 
doing homework 
was helpful

51%

said the same 
about school trips

40%

P
age 18



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

Pupils’ views

9/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Figure 3
Children's feelings about particular school lessons and activities

The largest proportion of children (89%) felt positive about school trips, but 67% also felt positive about academic 
lessons. More than one third of children (37%) reported that tests, assessments and exams made them feel bad. 

Note

1 Based on responses from 1,316 children in Great Britain between 20 March and 25 March 2015. 

Source: YouGov survey for the National Audit Office

Tests, assessment 
and exam

School trips

Practical lessons 
(eg food technology/
cooking, IT, woodwork etc) 

Sports lessons 
(eg PE, sports, games etc)

Arts lessons 
(eg art, dance, drama etc)

Academic lessons 
(eg maths, english, 
science etc)

0 2010 40 5030 60 9070 80 100

Very good Good Neither good nor bad Bad Very bad Don’t know

Percentage

felt positive about 
school trips

89%

also felt positive 
about academic 
lessons

67%

reported that tests, 
assessments and 
exams made them 
feel bad

37%

P
age 19



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

Parents’ views

10/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

2 Parents’ views

We commissioned YouGov to survey a sample of parents 
between 25 February and 3 March 2015. YouGov provided 
responses from a weighted base of 1,456 parents in England 
who had state-educated children aged between 4 and 16. 

A key intention of the Department’s Pupil Premium policy has been 
that its implementation should be transparent to parents and, in 
particular, that parents should be able to hold schools to account 
through statutory documents – Pupil Premium statements – that 
schools are meant to publish annually. To understand more about 
parents’ familiarity with the Pupil Premium we asked parents:

OO whether they had heard of the policy before taking the 
survey (Figure 4 on page 11);

OO whether they knew if their child was eligible for the Pupil 
Premium (Figure 5 on page 11);

OO if their child was known to be eligible, whether they knew how 
the school had used the funding (Figure 6 on page 12); and 

OO whether they had read the school’s Pupil Premium 
statement (Figure 7 on page 12).

Overall, we found low levels of familiarity among parents. 
Whereas around 29% of children across England were eligible 
for the Pupil Premium in 2014-15, only 8% of the parents in our 
survey (113 out of 1,456) were able to confirm that their child had 
the funding. More detailed findings are contained in Figures 4–7.

P
age 20



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

Parents’ views

11/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Figure 4
Parents’ knowledge of the Pupil Premium

Before taking our survey, fewer than half of the respondents had heard of the Pupil Premium.

Note

1 Based on responses from 1,456 parents.

Source: YouGov survey for the National Audit Office

No, I hadn’t

Yes, I had

0 10 20 30 40    60   50 70

Percentage

63

37

Figure 5
Parents’ knowledge of their child’s Pupil Premium status

One in five parents who had heard of the Pupil Premium did not know if their school was 
receiving Pupil Premium for their child.

Notes

1 Based on responses from 534 parents who said they had heard of the Pupil Premium.

2 When a parent had more than one child, they were asked to answer about the child whose birthday came 
soonest after the date of the survey.

Source: YouGov survey for the National Audit Office

Don’t know/
not sure

No, the school doesn’t 
receive Pupil Premium
for my child

Yes, the school does 
receive Pupil Premium
for my child

0 10 20 30 40    60   50 70

Percentage

19

60

21

P
age 21



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

Parents’ views

12/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Figure 6
Parents’ knowledge of how the Pupil Premium is spent

More than two thirds of parents who knew their child's Pupil Premium status also had some 
idea about how the school was using the funding.

Notes

1 Based on responses from 113 parents who knew that their school was receiving Pupil Premium 
for their child.

2 When a parent had more than one child, they were asked to answer about the child whose birthday came 
soonest after the date of the survey.

Source: YouGov survey for the National Audit Office

Don’t know/
not sure

No, I don’t know 
how it’s used

Yes, I have some 
idea how it’s used

Yes, I know exactly 
how it’s used

0 5 10 15 20    40   25    30    35

Percentage

1

28

35

36

Figure 7
Parents’ engagement with Pupil Premium statements

Only 30% of parents who knew their child's Pupil Premium status had also read the school’s 
Pupil Premium evaluation.

Notes

1 Based on responses from 113 parents who knew that their school was receiving Pupil Premium 
for their child.

2 When a parent had more than one child, they were asked to answer about the child whose birthday came 
soonest after the date of the survey.

Source: YouGov survey for the National Audit Office

Don’t know/
can’t recall

No, and I haven’t 
looked for it

No, I have looked 
for it online but it 
wasn’t there

Yes, I have

0 10 20    60   30    50   40

Percentage

57

6

6

31

P
age 22



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

School leaders’ views

13/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

3 School leaders’ views

We commissioned VoicED to survey a representative sample of 
school leaders across England, in both primary and secondary 
schools, between 16 February and 13 March 2015. We received 
responses from 543 school leaders, of whom 402 were in the 
primary sector and 141 were in the secondary sector. We weighted 
the responses to reflect the breakdown of phase and the proportion 
of pupils eligible for free school meals in the population. Results are 
reported by weighted responses (450 primary and 93 secondary). 
Of the respondents, 31% (168) were in schools with more than 1 in 
5 pupils eligible for free school meals.3

Many of the results of this survey were published in our main 
report. These are reproduced here alongside other results that we 
are publishing for the first time. The areas covered include:

OO the cost of schools’ work with disadvantaged pupils 
(Figure 8 on page 14);

OO the targeting of Pupil Premium funds (Figure 9 on page 14);

OO the specific interventions schools choose (Figure 10 on 
pages 15 and 16);

OO how schools identify best practice (Figure 11 on page 17);

OO the interventions schools find most effective (Figure 12 
on page 18);

OO the impacts school leaders report as a result of the Pupil 
Premium (Figure 13 on pages 19 and 20);

OO barriers to raising the attainment of disadvantaged pupils 
(Figure 14 on page 21); and

OO school leaders’ understanding of other funding they receive 
based on deprivation (Figure 15 on page 22).

3 Nationally, some 15% of school pupils are eligible for and claiming free school meals, according to the Department for Education’s Statistical First Release on 
Schools, pupils and their characteristics published in January 2015. Schools with more than 1 in 5 pupils eligible for free school meals are, therefore, dealing with a 
higher-than-average level of disadvantage.

P
age 23



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

School leaders’ views

14/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Figure 8
School leaders’ view of the amount they spend on work with 
disadvantaged pupils

Over three quarters of schools assess that they spend more than the value of the Pupil 
Premium on activities targeted at disadvantaged pupils.

Note

1 Where school leaders report spending more than the Pupil Premium, they will be using core school 
funding, some of which is also distributed on the basis of deprivation.

Source: National Audit Office survey of 543 school leaders

Don’t know

Significantly more 
than the Pupil 
Premium

Significantly less 
than the Pupil 
Premium

Slightly more than
the Pupil Premium

Slightly less than
the Pupil Premium

The same amount
as the Pupil 
Premium

0 10 20    60   30    50   40

Percentage

49

1

28

16

3

2

Figure 9
Targeting Pupil Premium funds

Schools typically use the Pupil Premium to support specific groups of pupils with particular 
needs but they spend some of the money on activities aimed at all pupils.

Note

1 Our main report on Funding for disadvantaged pupils found that funding school- or class-wide 
interventions could be an effective and efficient means of supporting disadvantaged pupils (for instance, 
actions to improve general behaviour) but also identified a risk that, in certain circumstances, such 
general interventions could dilute the impact of funding on disadvantaged pupils, particularly when they 
are present in small numbers in a school.

Source: National Audit Office survey of 543 school leaders

We solely use Pupil Premium
funding to support all pupils,
irrespective of their background 

We mainly use Pupil Premium 
to support all pupils, irrespective 
of their background, but we use
some to support specific groups
of pupils

We solely use Pupil Premium
funding to support specific 
groups of pupils

We mainly use Pupil Premium
funding to support specific
groups of pupils, but we use
some to support all pupils,
irrespective of their background

0 10 20    70   60   30    50   40

Percentage

15

3

22

61

P
age 24



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

School leaders’ views

15/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Figure 10
Interventions chosen by schools

This graph shows the cost-effectiveness of interventions schools use to support disadvantaged pupils and the 
proportion of schools that use them. 

One-to-one tuition

Improve feedback between
teachers and pupils

0 10 20 70

Proportion of schools using intervention (%)

Early years intervention schemes
(primary schools only)

Give pupils strategies to choose from
to regulate their own learning

Peer-to-peer tutoring schemes
for pupils

Parental involvement

Invest in digital technology

Train teaching assistants to attain
higher-level qualifications

Reduce class sizes

Intervention by effectiveness

High effectiveness

Moderate effectiveness

30 40 50 60 80 90

72

67

63

47

25

57

50

38

33

High cost

Figure continued on 
next page 

of schools used 
one-to-one tuition 
as an intervention

72%

of schools 
used parental 
involvement as 
an intervention

57%

P
age 25



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

School leaders’ views

16/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Figure 10 continued
Interventions chosen by schools

Note

1 The level of effectiveness is as determined by the Education Endowment Foundation in its Teaching and Learning Toolkit and was correct at June 2015.

2 Research indicates that the effectiveness of teaching assistants varies greatly depending on how they are used. Our main report on Funding for 
disadvantaged pupils cited research from the Education Endowment Foundation that “the typical deployment and use of teaching assistants, under 
everyday conditions, is not leading to improvements in academic outcomes”. 

Source: National Audit Office survey of 543 school leaders

0 10 20 70

Proportion of schools using intervention (%)

Additional teaching assistants

Improve the classroom or
school environment

Performance-related pay

Repeating a year

Programmes aimed at raising
pupils’ aspiration or confidence

Low effectiveness

Evidence does not allow conclusion

Offer higher salaries to attract
higher-quality teachers

30 40 50 60 80 90

71

44

7

2

79

4

High cost

P
age 26



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

School leaders’ views

17/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Figure 11
How schools identify best practice

Schools use a wide range of sources but not all use those that are externally produced

Evidence from other schools/word of mouth

Past experience of what works

Internal monitoring and evaluation

School-based

The Department’s website

Local authority

Ofsted

Government

0 2010 40 50 60 70 80 90 10030

School leaders using source (%)

71

73

87

45

49

73

Source: National Audit Office survey of 543 school leaders

An approved Pupil Premium reviewer

Education consultants

Other

Independent expert

Other

10

27

4

Academic research

The Education Endowment Foundation Toolkit

Academia

45

64

P
age 27



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

School leaders’ views

18/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Figure 12
Interventions school leaders think most effective

Type of intervention Percentage of respondents 
assessing the intervention as 

one of the “most effective”
(%)

Use more one-to-one tuition 44

Improve feedback between teachers and pupils 43

Programmes aimed at raising pupils’ aspirations or confidence 42

Early years intervention schemes (infant and primary schools) 31

Employ additional teaching assistants 23

Parental involvement 22

Give pupils strategies to choose from to regulate their own learning 18

Reduce class sizes 18

Train teaching assistants to attain higher qualifications 8

Something else 7

Invest in digital technology 6

Have more peer-to-peer tutoring schemes for pupils 5

Improve the classroom or school environment 4

Offer higher salaries to attract higher-quality teachers 2

Don’t know 1

Performance-related pay 0

Note

1 Survey respondents were asked to list up to 3 interventions that they considered to be the most effective at improving the 
performance of disadvantaged pupils at their school. 

Source: National Audit Offi ce survey of 543 school leaders

of respondents 
said one-to-one 
tuition was one of 
the “most effective” 
interventions

44%

of respondents 
said improved 
feedback between 
teachers and pupils 
was one of the 
“most effective” 
interventions

43%

P
age 28



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

School leaders’ views

19/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Figure 13
Impacts of the Pupil Premium reported by school leaders

Schools attribute attainment and other impacts to the Pupil Premium 

Reported impacts

0 10 20 70

Proportion of school leaders (%)

Secondary

Primary

Exclusions

Secondary

Primary

Destinations of pupils

Secondary

Primary

Pupil behaviour

Secondary

Primary

Parents’ engagement

30 40 50 60 80 90 100

 Improved or greatly approved

 Stayed the same

 Worsened or greatly worsened

 Don’t know/not applicable

Figure continued on 
next page 

P
age 29



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

School leaders’ views

20/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Figure 13 continued
Impacts of the Pupil Premium reported by school leaders

Reported impacts

Source: National Audit Office survey of 543 school leaders

0 10 20 70

Proportion of school leaders (%)

Secondary

Primary

Pupil attendance

Secondary

Primary

Pupil confidence

Secondary

Primary

Pupil attainment

30 40 50 60 80 90 100

 Improved or greatly improved

 Stayed the same

 Worsened or greatly worsened

 Don’t know/not applicable

P
age 30



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

School leaders’ views

21/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Figure 14
Barriers schools encounter in raising the attainment of disadvantaged pupils

Two thirds of school leaders see lack of parental involvement as a major barrier to raising the attainment of 
disadvantaged pupils. 

Source: National Audit Office survey of 543 school leaders

Having information about what works

Funding not being ring-fenced

Pupil aspiration

Overall funding levels

Parental involvement in pupils’ learning

Sufficient tracking and
monitoring systems

Teacher training and development

Attracting and retaining support
staff with the right skills and experience

Attracting and retaining teaching
staff with the right skills and experience

0 2010 40 5030 60 9070 80 100

Not a barrier Minor barrier Major barrier Don’t know

Percentage

P
age 31



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

School leaders’ views

22/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Figure 15
School leaders’ awareness of other school funding based 
on deprivation

More than one third of school leaders did not know, in addition to the Pupil Premium, 
how much core school funding they received on the basis of deprivation. 

Notes

1 Local authorities are responsible for choosing how to distribute core school funding (the Dedicated 
Schools Grant) to both maintained schools and academies. They use deprivation as one of the factors to 
determine how much each school receives, with different local authorities distributing different amounts 
based on this factor. We asked school leaders if they knew how much core funding their school received 
on the basis of deprivation.  

Source: National Audit Office survey of 543 school leaders

Yes

Approximately

No

0 5 10 15 20    40   25    30    35

Percentage

28

38

34

P
age 32



© National Audit Office 2015Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

Further reading

23/24

Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Appendix One

Further reading
There are many sources of information about how to 
spend the Pupil Premium effectively and who to target it at. 
The following list is by no means exhaustive and focuses on 
recently-published material.

Department for Education, Supporting the attainment of 
disadvantaged pupils: articulating success and good practice, 
November 2015.

www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-the-attainment-
of-disadvantaged-pupils

Department for Education, Factors associated with achievement, 
November 2015.

Key Stage 2 – www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/473674/RR486_-_Factors_associated_with_
achievement_-_key_stage_2.pdf

Key Stage 4 – www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/473673/RR407_-_Factors_associated_with_
achievement_-_key_stage_4.pdf

Education Endowment Foundation, Teaching and Learning Toolkit, 
regularly updated.

https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/toolkit/toolkit-a-z/

P
age 33

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-the-attainment-of-disadvantaged-pupils
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-the-attainment-of-disadvantaged-pupils
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/473674/RR486_-_Factors_associated_with_achievement_-_key_stage_2.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/473674/RR486_-_Factors_associated_with_achievement_-_key_stage_2.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/473674/RR486_-_Factors_associated_with_achievement_-_key_stage_2.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/473673/RR407_-_Factors_associated_with_achievement_-_key_stage_4.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/473673/RR407_-_Factors_associated_with_achievement_-_key_stage_4.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/473673/RR407_-_Factors_associated_with_achievement_-_key_stage_4.pdf
https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/toolkit/toolkit-a-z/


Further readingPupils’ views Parents’ views School leaders’ 
views

Introduction

Design and production by NAO Communications | DP Ref: 10867-001 | © National Audit Office 2015

The National Audit Office scrutinises public spending for Parliament and is independent 
of government. The Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG), Sir Amyas Morse KCB, 
is an Officer of the House of Commons and leads the NAO, which employs some 
810 people. The C&AG certifies the accounts of all government departments and 
many other public sector bodies. He has statutory authority to examine and report 
to Parliament on whether departments and the bodies they fund have used their 
resources efficiently, effectively, and with economy. Our studies evaluate the value for 
money of public spending, nationally and locally. Our recommendations and reports 
on good practice help government improve public services, and our work led to 
audited savings of £1.15 billion in 2014.

Authors 
Ian Cockburn, Andy Fisher, 
Erin Mansell and Amarpreet Thind, 
under the direction of Tim Phillips.

Funding for disadvantaged pupils Survey evidence from pupils, parents and school leaders

P
age 34


	Agenda
	1 John Cavadino, Principal, Oasis Academy Isle of Sheppey
	John Cavadino - TsQs

	2 Paul Luxmoore, CEO, Coastal Academies Trust
	Paul Luxmoore - TsQs

	3 Appendix

	Button 30: 
	Button 2: 
	Page 2: Off
	Page 31: Off
	Page 42: Off
	Page 53: Off
	Page 64: Off
	Page 75: Off
	Page 86: Off
	Page 97: Off
	Page 108: Off
	Page 119: Off
	Page 1210: Off
	Page 1311: Off
	Page 1412: Off
	Page 1513: Off
	Page 1614: Off
	Page 1715: Off
	Page 1816: Off
	Page 1917: Off
	Page 2018: Off
	Page 2119: Off
	Page 2220: Off
	Page 2321: Off

	Button 1: 
	Page 2: Off
	Page 31: Off
	Page 42: Off
	Page 53: Off
	Page 64: Off
	Page 75: Off
	Page 86: Off
	Page 97: Off
	Page 108: Off
	Page 119: Off
	Page 1210: Off
	Page 1311: Off
	Page 1412: Off
	Page 1513: Off
	Page 1614: Off
	Page 1715: Off
	Page 1816: Off
	Page 1917: Off
	Page 2018: Off
	Page 2119: Off
	Page 2220: Off
	Page 2321: Off

	Button 3: 
	Page 2: Off
	Page 31: Off
	Page 42: Off
	Page 53: Off
	Page 64: Off
	Page 75: Off
	Page 86: Off
	Page 97: Off
	Page 108: Off
	Page 119: Off
	Page 1210: Off
	Page 1311: Off
	Page 1412: Off
	Page 1513: Off
	Page 1614: Off
	Page 1715: Off
	Page 1816: Off
	Page 1917: Off
	Page 2018: Off
	Page 2119: Off
	Page 2220: Off
	Page 2321: Off

	Button 27: 
	Page 2: Off
	Page 31: Off
	Page 42: Off
	Page 53: Off
	Page 64: Off
	Page 75: Off
	Page 86: Off
	Page 97: Off
	Page 108: Off
	Page 119: Off
	Page 1210: Off
	Page 1311: Off
	Page 1412: Off
	Page 1513: Off
	Page 1614: Off
	Page 1715: Off
	Page 1816: Off
	Page 1917: Off
	Page 2018: Off
	Page 2119: Off
	Page 2220: Off
	Page 2321: Off

	Button 35: 
	Button 36: 
	Button 37: 


